Supreme Court No. 93799.1

Court of Appeals, Division II, No. 47397-6-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Basilio Cornelio Carrera, Respondent,

v.

Sunheaven Farms and Brent Schulthies, Petitioners.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

S. Karen Bamberger, WSBA #18478 Betts Patterson & Mines One Convention Place, Suite 1400 701 Pike Street Seattle WA 98101-3927 Telephone: (206) 292-9988 Facsimile: (206) 343-7053 Attorney for Petitioners Sunheaven Farms and Brent Schultheis

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Sunheaven Farms and Brent Schultheis ("Sunheaven Farms") respectfully ask this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Section II of this petition.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Sunheaven Farms seeks review of the published Court of Appeals decision reversing partial summary judgment and ruling in favor of Basilio Carrera ("Carrera") and the Department of Labor & Industries ("L&I"), as statutory assignee. *See Carrera v. Sunheaven Farms, et al.*, ____ Wn. App. ____, ___ P.3d ____ (Wn. App. Div. II, Oct. 4, 2016). The Court of Appeals ruled that L&I was entitled to seek all damages potentially recoverable by Carrera, the injured worker, even though the statute of limitations had expired on his personal injury claim, rather than limiting L&I's recovery to the benefits L&I had paid. A copy of the decision is reproduced in the Appendix at pages A-1 to A-19.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

If review is accepted, the Court will be presented with these issues:

1. Where the Washington Supreme Court already has ruled that L&I is not entitled to recover damages personal to an injured worker in a case prosecuted by the injured worker directly (RCW 51.24.060)—namely, noneconomic damages consisting of loss of consortium and pain and suffering—is it consistent with this legal precedent to allow L&I to recover these same damages

on behalf of an injured worker in an assigned case against a third party (RCW 51.24.050)?

2. Is L&I entitled to use the amount of any noneconomic damages recovered in an assigned third party case to enhance its recovery, since the Court of Appeals decision states both that "L&I may not retain noneconomic damages in assigned third party actions" and that "[e]ven if L&I may not retain all the proceeds it requests as damages, it may seek and recover those damages in an assigned third party action and dispense them according to the statutory distribution scheme"?

3. Does L&I serve as a mere conduit for a private citizen when it seeks to recover damages that are exclusively personal to an injured worker or does sovereign immunity apply because any potential incidental benefit to others is sufficient to allow RCW 4.16.160 to apply, such that L&I can file a cause of action against third parties years after the expiration of the statute of limitations on the underlying claim?

4. Is it appropriate to apply a statute of limitations to an injured worker's claim and a separate statute of limitations to L&I's claim, where the injured worker's claim is time-barred such that it cannot be assigned to L&I in the first instance?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a personal injury case brought by the Department of Labor & Industries ("L&I"), on behalf of Basilio Carrera ("Carrera"), an injured worker, ostensibly pursuant to RCW 51.24.050(1). This statutory provision allows L&I to prosecute a claim on behalf of an injured worker where the worker elects not to bring a third party suit. In this case, L&I never should have had the right to bring this cause of action because Carrera had, in fact, elected to pursue a third party action and did so, in the case entitled *Carrera v. Brent Hartley and Jane Doe Hartley and Hartley Produce, LLC*, Benton County Cause No. 10-2-02367-1. This lawsuit was dismissed and thereafter, L&I took it upon itself to file the instant lawsuit that alleged legal malpractice on the part of the attorney who filed Carrera's personal injury lawsuit, and then amended the complaint to assert liability on the part of Sunheaven Farms, Sunheaven Farms, LLC, Brent Schultheis Farms, LLC, Brent Schultheis and Elaine Schultheis and John Does and Jane Does 1 through 10.¹

In the currently pending action, L&I is seeking to recover *all* damages available to Carrera, including non-economic damages that L&I cannot retain, notwithstanding the fact that the statute of limitations for Carrera's claim lapsed long before the current lawsuit was filed. Carrera was injured on August 14, 2009; the instant lawsuit was not filed until March 14, 2014. The only reason this case was not dismissed outright based on the statute of limitations is because L&I filed this lawsuit, as the real party in interest, triggering the application of RCW 4.16.160.

¹ The claims against Brent Schultheis Farms, LLC and Brent and Elaine Schultheis personally were dismissed with prejudice by order entered by Judge Arend on September 15, 2014. The claims against Brent Schultheis as a partner of Sunheaven Farms general partnership were not dismissed.

Sunheaven Farms concedes that the statute of limitations does not apply to a sovereign entity to the extent the suit is being brought in furtherance of its public policy, as distinguished from situations where the sovereign entity is acting as a mere conduit for the benefit of private individuals. Moreover, although L&I is entitled to file suit to seek reimbursement of payments it made on behalf of Carrera, L&I should not be able to recover for noneconomic damages that are personal to Carrera. For this individual claim, L&I is acting purely as a conduit and the statute of limitations should apply to Carrera's personal claim that includes noneconomic damages.

Carrera opted to pursue a third party claim and filed a lawsuit against Brent and Jane Doe Hartley and Hartley Produce, LLC. CP 14. Hartley Produce answered the complaint, alleging that an indispensable party had not been joined—Carrera's employer, Brent Hartley Farms, LLC—so Carrera's counsel amended the complaint to name this entity and asserted that it had acted intentionally. CP 15. Brent Hartley Farms then filed a motion for summary judgment and prevailed. CP 15-16. The court entered an order on March 18, 2011, dismissing claims against all defendants, even though the only arguments pertained to Brent Hartley Farms, CP 24-25.

More than two years later, on December 24, 2013, L&I advised Carrera that he needed to elect whether to pursue a third party action, an erroneous assertion since Carrera already had filed (and lost) such an action. CP 100. Indeed, it is unknown if Carrera was still living in the United States at this time and if he ever received notice.² In any event, on March 4, 2014, L&I advised Carrera that his third party action was deemed assigned to L&I. CP 102. L&I then proceeded to file a lawsuit on March 14, 2014, purportedly on Carrera's behalf, seeking both economic and non-economic damages, all the while asserting that it was the only real party in interest. CP 79-95. It amended the complaint on April 7, 2014, to name Sunheaven Farms. CP 1-23.

Sunheaven Farms filed a motion for partial summary judgment, asserting that L&I was only entitled to recover the economic damages it had paid since the statute of limitations had run with respect to Carrera's claim (and for which Carrera had previously filed a third party action). CP 51-60. In other words, Sunheaven Farms sought a ruling that the only viable action L&I could bring was to recover the amount of its lien—a result that is fair to L&I (allowing it to seek reimbursement of its lien, albeit subject to the distribution scheme found in RCW 51.24.050), the

² According to discovery answers, in 2013, Carrera was residing in Mexico, where he still lives. CP 127.

injured worker (who already had filed a third party claim and who had opted not to pursue his claim in a timely manner) and the third parties (who should be able to rely on the statute of limitations to preclude stale claims).

The trial granted summary judgment in part, ruling that L&I was limited to recovery of benefits it had paid. CP 402-406. The trial court subsequently granted a motion for certification of appeal. CP 415-417.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. The Court of Appeals' decision is in conflict with the underlying policy articulated by the Washington Supreme Court in Flanigan v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 123 Wn.2d 418, 869 P.2d 14 (1994) and Tobin v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 169 Wn.2d 396, 239 P.3d 544 (2010), that acknowledges that workers' compensation benefits do not take into account noneconomic damages personal to the injured worker because it held both that even though L&I could not retain noneconomic damages, L&I could pursue such damages in an assigned third party case and "dispense them according to the statutory distribution scheme". (RAP 13.4(b)(1))

The Washington Supreme Court, in Flanigan and Tobin, supra,

recognized that in a case brought within the statute of limitations for personal injury actions by the injured worker himself, L&I could not take into account noneconomic damages in determining its recovery because it otherwise would receive an "unjustified windfall". In *Flanigan*, the Washington Supreme Court held that the "recovery" available to L&I under the distribution scheme set forth in RCW 51.24.060 did not include funds received as damages for a loss of consortium claim. 123 Wn.2d at 426. Recognizing that "workers' compensation benefits do not compensate employees or their beneficiaries for noneconomic damages such as loss of consortium," the court held that L&I was not entitled to reimbursement for those damages and, therefore, allowing a surviving spouse to retain those damages did not result in a double recovery. *Id.* at 425. Subsequent to *Flanigan*, the Legislature amended the statute to define "recovery" for the purposes of chapter 51.24 RCW as "all damages except loss of consortium." RCW 51.24.030(5).

The Washington Supreme Court in *Tobin* went farther, excluding all noneconomic damages from the statutory definition of "recovery" in addition to those arising from loss of consortium claims. 169 Wn.2d at 402. The court reasoned that RCW 51.24.060(1)(c) provides L&I access to recovery "only to the extent necessary to reimburse the department ... for benefits paid." *Tobin*, 169 Wn.2d at 402. Because L&I does not reimburse injured workers for noneconomic damages, such damages do not constitute "benefits paid" and are therefore not recoverable under the statute. *Id*.

Here, the Court of Appeals extended this reasoning to situations where the injured worker elects not to pursue an action against the third

party, as L&I represents occurred here,³ finding that the reasoning underlying RCW 51.24.060 applies "with equal force" to actions brought pursuant to RCW 51.24.050. The Court of Appeals correctly held that "L&I may not retain noneconomic damages in assigned third party actions." App. at A-9.

The Court of Appeals, however, went on to state that "[e]ven if L&I may not retain all the proceeds it requests as damages, it may seek and recover those damages in an assigned third party action and dispense them according to the statutory distribution scheme." App. at A-11. This statement is at odds with the policy recognized in *Flanigan* and *Tobin* that such damages cannot be recovered by L&I. By stating that these sums are then to be dispensed according to the statutory distribution scheme undermines the Washington Supreme Court's ruling that L&I is not entitled to any amount of the injured worker's noneconomic damages. This is so because the distribution scheme in RCW 51.24.050 first permits L&I to collect attorney's fees based on the amount of damages recovered. RCW 51.24.050(4)(a) (L&I "shall be paid the expenses incurred in making the recovery including reasonable costs of legal services).

³ Again, here, Carrera had in fact pursued a third party action.

Moreover, in reaching these internally inconsistent positions, the Court of Appeals decision misconstrues the intent of the distribution scheme. It found that the "scheme anticipates that L&I would pursue assigned third party actions for damages beyond those it could retain" and used this as a basis for concluding that L&I should be able to recover all damages, even those personal to Carrera that were time-barred. App. at A-11. But this analysis overlooks what occurs in the ordinary case that is filed in a timely fashion. In a typical case, where L&I sends the election notice to the injured worker *before* the statute of limitations has run, and the injured worker elects not to pursue his claim *before* the statute of limitations has run, L&I certainly can seek recovery of all economic damages. That is its statutory charge.

The "surplus damages" that the Court of Appeals envisions L&I pursuing would exist in every case brought *prior* to the statute of limitations expiring. The recovery of noneconomic damages is not necessary to give meaning to every provision of the statute. The surplus damages do not refer to damages that are beyond the reach of L&I, but to economic damages that represent amounts beyond those incurred by L&I. For example, L&I does not pay medical benefits one hundred cents on the dollar. Like an insurance company, L&I always pays a discounted amount of every medical bill. Moreover, L&I only pays partial time loss

compensation. Finally, the fact that an injured party has received benefits from L& I is not admissible in a third party action. *See* RCW 51.24.100. Accordingly, in a typical case, where L&I files a third party action within the three year statute of limitations for personal injury claims, L&I will be able to present evidence reflecting the amount of actual medical bills incurred and total wage loss incurred. If L&I prevails on the claim on behalf of the injured worker, and the trier of fact awards all medical bills and time loss, the jury necessarily will have awarded a sum greater than the amount of L&I's lien and it is this surplus that is contemplated by the statute and that would be distributed according to the statutory scheme.

To allow L&I to recover damages that are part of a cause of action that is barred by the statute of limitations, even though L&I is not allowed to retain any such damages per *Flanigan* and *Tobin* (and by extension, here), in effect provides an "unjustified windfall" for the injured worker who did not pursue his claim in a timely manner.⁴ Indeed, the Court of Appeals ruling encourages injured workers not to pursue their claims within the statute of limitations, knowing that L&I can step in, literally years later, and attempt to recover damages to which it cannot lay claim.

⁴ Sunheaven Farms, of course, does not mean to imply that Carrera is not deserving of fair compensation for his permanent injury, assuming liability could have been established in a lawsuit that was filed within the statute of limitations.

The injured worker who opts not to retain an attorney can still recover all of his noneconomic damages and, apparently, at no cost and at any time. In this case alone, the unfortunate accident occurred in 2009; the initial third party action was dismissed in 2011; L&I did not notify Carrera of his election rights until 2013; and L&I did not file the amended complaint naming Sunheaven until April 2014—almost five years after the incident occurred and almost two years after the statute of limitations ran.

In the underlying briefing, L&I took the position that it was entitled to seek general damages in an assigned case, arguing that it could then apply these sums to the statutory distribution. L&I was incentivized to pursue general damages, arguing that it could then derive an economic benefit to help replenish its coffers. After all, one need only compare the disparity between the amount of L&I's lien in this case (less than \$800,000) with the general damages claimed by Carrera (between 5 and 10 million dollars) to understand L&I's motivation. CP 147, 143. L&I hoped to reap the benefits of running a potentially eight figure award through the distribution scheme set forth in RCW 51.24.050 to increase the attorney's fees it could recover, in addition to recouping more of the benefits it had paid out. The Court of Appeals decision, in stating that L&I may do so, directly contravenes the policy underlying the Washington Supreme Court's decisions in *Flanigan* and *Tobin*.

2. The Court of Appeals' decision involves an issue of substantial public interest because its consequences thwart the very purpose of statutes of limitations and open the door for L&I to file lawsuits for any number of claims for which the statute of limitations has expired, and to seek noneconomic damages solely personal to the injured worker. (RAP 13.4(b)(2))

If the Court of Appeals decision is allowed to stand, L&I can review any and all prior claims and send out notices of election to injured workers, notwithstanding that years, even decades, have passed since the injury occurred and to file lawsuits against third parties, and to recover all damages. This result would be unprecedented and would encourage the proverbial floodgates to open, even if the injured worker has no knowledge of the lawsuit proceeding, as may have occurred here. The Washington Supreme Court, in *Ruth v. Dight*, 75 Wn.2d 660, 665, 453 P.2d 631 (1969) (en banc), eloquently explained the policy underlying statutes of limitations:

> There is nothing inherently unjust about a statute of limitations. Limitations on the time in which one may sue also limit the time in which another may be sued. If one cannot bring an action, by the same token he cannot compel another to defend it. Statutes of limitation, although having their origins in legislative proceedings — aside from equitable principles of laches and estoppel — thus contemplate that a qualified freedom from unending harrassment of judicial process is one of the hallmarks of justice. No civilized society could lay claim to an enlightened judicial system which puts no limits on the time in which a person can be compelled to defend against claims brought in good faith, much less whatever stale,

illusory, false, fraudulent or malicious accusations of civil wrong might be leveled against him.

In applying the statutes of limitation, the courts have made many assumptions. Stale claims, from their very nature, are more apt to be spurious than fresh; old evidence is more likely to be untrustworthy than new. Time dissipates and erodes the memory of witnesses and their abilities to accurately describe the material events. In time witnesses die or disappear, and the longer the time the more likely this will happen. With the passing of time, minor grievances may fade away, but they may grow to outlandish proportions, too. Finally, and not to be ignored, is the basic philosophy underlying the idea that society itself benefits, except in capital cases, when there comes a time to everyone, be it long or short, that one is freed from the fears and burdens of threatened litigation.

While it has been a long cherished ambition of the common law to provide a legal remedy for every genuine wrong, it is also a traditional view that compelling one to answer stale claims in the courts is in itself a substantial wrong. After all, when an adult person has a justiciable grievance, he usually knows it and the law affords him ample opportunity to assert it in the courts. Consequently, as a matter of basic justice, the courts usually have a cogent reason to give limitation statutes a literal and rigid reading, and to declare that the right to sue begins with the wrongful acts and ends with the statutory period unless earlier terminated by laches or estoppel.

These basic policies obviously run counter to the concept of

sovereign immunity. Washington recognizes that when the State is acting

in its sovereign capacity, statutes of limitations do not apply. RCW

4.16.160. However, as this Court acknowledged in Wash. State Major

League Baseball Stadium Pub. Facilities Dist. v. Huber, Hunt & Nichols-

Kiewit Constr. Co., 165 Wn.2d 679, 687, 202 P.3d 924 (2009), "[t]he

principal test for determining whether a municipal act involves a sovereign or proprietary function is whether the act is for the common good or whether it is for the specific benefit or profit of the . . . entity." Division II, in holding that noneconomic damages cannot be retained by L&I, confirms that L&I's actions in prosecuting Carrera's personal claim for these damages is for his specific benefit. Whereas the statute of limitations does not bar L&I's cause of action seeking recovery for the benefits it paid, it does bar Carrera's cause of action and, derivatively, L&I's right to seek recovery for damages that are for Carrera's specific benefit.⁵

Furthermore, this is not a situation where different statutes of limitations apply to different categories of damages of the same claim.

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