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

Review should not be granted, but if it is the following issues are 

presented:  

1. RCW 51.24.050 allows the Department to “prosecute” an 

assigned “cause of action” when a negligent non-employer 

has injured a worker. Is the Department precluded from 

claiming noneconomic damages from a negligent non-

employer when RCW 51.24.050 allows the Department to 

prosecute the whole cause of action without limitation?  

2. RCW 4.16.160 exempts the statute of limitations from 

running against the State when an action is brought “in the 

name or for the benefit of the state.” Does RCW 4.16.160 

bar application of a three-year statute of limitation against 

the Department when third party actions serve to replenish 

state coffers and serve as a deterrent for unsafe 

workplaces? 

III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. The Department Sues Negligent Non-Employers To Replenish 
the Injured Worker Fund and To Serve as a Deterrent Against 
Those Who Would Create an Unsafe Workplace 

 

This case is a “third party” action brought by the Department 

exercising its statutory authority to bring injured worker claims against 
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negligent non-employers. RCW 51.24.050 authorizes the Department to 

sue a third party for damages sustained by injured workers when workers 

decline to exercise their right to sue on their own behalf. In an action 

under this statute, the Department sues the negligent non-employer, 

obtains all damages, and allocates the funds between the Department and 

worker. See RCW 51.24.050.  

B. Because of Sunheaven’s Actions, Carrera’s Arm Was 
Amputated by an Unsafe Conveyer Belt 

 

Basilio Carrera, the injured worker, was an employee of Brent 

Hartley Farms, LLC. CP 8-9. At the time Carrera was injured, his 

employer had a contract with Sunheaven to provide safety compliance 

services, in addition to other centralized administrative services. CP 7-8. 

Sunheaven did not employ Carrera. CP 8-9. It is a third party under RCW 

51.24.050 and may be sued for negligence that causes a work-related 

injury. Sunheaven contracted with Carrera’s employer to regulate 

compliance with safety laws and provide safety training at the farm where 

Carrera worked. CP 7-8. It did neither. CP 47-50. Carrera’s arm was cut 

off when his shirt was caught in a conveyor whose side guards had been 

removed in violation of state law. CP 48.  

WAC 296-307-232, adopted by the Department under the 

Washington Industrial Safety and Health Act (WISHA), RCW 49.17, 
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requires side guards. CP 48. The Department may sue a third party in tort 

if the third party negligently violates a Department workplace safety 

regulation. RCW 51.24.050; Afoa v. Port of Seattle, 176 Wn.2d 460, 472, 

296 P.3d 800 (2013) (an entity who controls or creates a workplace safety 

hazard under WISHA may be liable in tort even if the injured employee 

works for a different employer). 

C. The Lawsuit Against Sunheaven Was Assigned to the 
Department 

 

After being injured, Carrera retained an attorney, Thomas 

Olmstead, to pursue legal remedies. CP 14. Olmstead sued Carrera’s 

employer, despite its immunity from suit. CP 14-15. The suit was 

dismissed. CP 292-94. Olmstead, despite requirements under RCW 

51.24.030(2) to notify the Department of the filing of a third party 

workers’ compensation action, did not do so until after the action was 

dismissed. CP 261. After it was informed of dismissal, the Department 

identified Sunheaven as a potential liable party. CP 220-21. The 

Department notified Carrera under RCW 51.24.070(2) that it intended to 

pursue an assigned third party action if he failed to respond within 60 days 

and pursue the action himself; he did not respond and the Department 

became the statutory assignee of his action against Sunheaven. CP 2, 263; 
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RCW 51.24.050(1). The Department sued Sunheaven more than three 

years after Carrera’s injury. CP 1-23.1 

D. The Superior Court Barred the Department from Seeking 
Noneconomic Damages, but the Court of Appeals Reversed, 
Holding That the Statute of Limitations Applicable to Private 
Parties Did Not Apply to the Department Because the Action 
Was to Benefit the State 

 

Sunheaven moved for summary judgment, arguing that the 

Department may recover all damages from a third party only if the case is 

filed within three years of the injury. CP 51-74. Sunheaven conceded that 

the Department is immune from the statute of limitations under RCW 

4.16.160 and could bring a cause of action, but it argued that the 

Department could only collect a class, or portion, of damages. CP 54-58. 

Sunheaven argued that the court could not award any damages greater 

than the Department’s benefit payments to Carrera because the statute of 

limitations had expired, somehow, as to those damages. CP 54-58. The 

claim was timely, Sunheaven argued, but in a novel application of the 

statute of limitations, it argued that some damages in the claim—notably 

noneconomic damages—were not. CP 54-58. The trial court granted 

partial summary judgment to Sunheaven, ruling that the Department was 

time-barred from collecting damages other than its current and projected 

                                                           
1 Sunheaven states that the Department had no right to file a lawsuit because Carrera sued 
the wrong parties. Pet. at 2-3. Because Sunheaven did not argue this at the trial court, it 
has waived such an argument. 
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benefit expenditures. CP 402-06. The trial court did not rule the 

Department’s action was untimely. CP 402-06.  Instead, the trial court 

held that a class of damages was barred by the statute of limitations. CP 

402-06. 

The Court of Appeals did not agree. Carrera v. Sunheaven Farms, 

196 Wn. App. 240, 243, 383 P.3d 563 (2016). Before reaching the statute 

of limitations issue, the Court of Appeals followed Flanigan and Tobin 

and ruled that the Department may not collect noneconomic damages from 

an injured worker in a third party action. Id. at 251 (citing Tobin v. Dep’t 

of Labor & Indus., 169 Wn.2d 396, 239 P.3d 544 (2010), and Flanigan v. 

Dep’t of Labor & Indus., 123 Wn.2d 418, 869 P.2d 14 (1994)). The Court 

acknowledged that Flanigan and Tobin addressed claims brought by an 

injured worker under RCW 51.24.060 while this case addresses a claim 

that the Department brought under RCW 51.24.050. Id. at 250. But it held 

that the “general reasoning” of Flanigan and Tobin applies with equal 

force to RCW 51.24.050. Id. Consistent with that authority, the 

Department may not retain noneconomic damages as part of the recovery 

under RCW 51.24.050. The Department does not contest this aspect of the 

decision. 

The Court then turned to a separate question: what may the 

Department seek from Sunheaven? Id. at 251. Unlike a traditional cause of 
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action, damages recovered by third party claims are not distributed wholly 

to the party prosecuting the claim—in this case the Department. Instead, 

the recovery is distributed under a formula crafted by the Legislature. 

RCW 51.24.050. The Court of Appeals analyzed the plain language of 

RCW 51.24.050 to determine what the Legislature intended the 

Department to obtain from negligent third parties—a question distinct 

from how that money is distributed. Carrera, 196 Wn. App. At 251-53. It 

concluded that the plain language was unambiguous: the Legislature 

intended the Department to seek all damages that a negligent third party 

caused the injured worker. Id. at 253. 

The Court of Appeals also ruled that the State is immune from the 

statute of limitations and is not time-barred in this case from bringing its 

claim for all damages, including noneconomic damages. Id. at 260. The 

Court explained that precedent provides that the State, bringing a claim 

authorized by statute, is immune from the statute of limitations even if the 

result also benefits specific members of the public. See id. at 259 (citing 

Herrmann v. Cissna, 82 Wn.2d 1, 7, 507 P.2d 144 (1973); State v. LG 

Electronics., Inc., 185 Wn. App. 123, 137, 340 P.3d 915 (2014), aff’d, 186 

Wn.2d 1 (2016)). The Court of Appeals found that deterrence, as in 

Herrmann and LG Electronics,  is a state interest supporting immunity 

from the statute of limitations. Carrera, 196 Wn. App. at 259. The Court 
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of Appeals also noted that the litigation goal of replenishing the injured 

workers fund is another public interest that makes the State’s lawsuit in 

this case a proper exercise of sovereign power. Id. This Court’s precedent 

controlled and the Court of Appeals ruled that the State is immune from 

the statute of limitations under RCW 4.16.160. 

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 

A. The Court of Appeals Followed Tobin and Flanigan and the 
Decision Does Not Conflict With Them 
 
The Department properly sought all damages, including 

noneconomic damages, from Sunheaven, as RCW 51.24.050 authorizes. 

There is no conflict with Tobin and Flanigan in doing so, contrary to 

Sunheaven’s claims. Pet. 1-2. These cases deal with an entirely different 

scenario: what to do with the money after it is obtained. They did not 

address the question here: what damages may be sought in the first place.    

The Industrial Insurance Act allows either an injured worker or the 

Department to sue a negligent third party if the worker is injured while 

working. RCW 51.24.030, .050. There are two steps to this process. First, 

the statutes establish what the worker and Department may seek in 

damages. Second, the statutes establish what the worker and Department 

may retain after money is obtained in a judgment or settlement. In the first 

step, both a worker and the Department may seek all damages possible in 
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a “cause of action.” RCW 51.24.030;2 RCW 51.24.050.3  In the second 

step, once a judgment or settlement is reached, there are limitations on the 

Department’s and worker’s share of those monies. RCW 51.24.030, .050, 

.060. 

Under the second step, the worker’s recovery is subject to the 

Department’s claim for reimbursement of benefits paid. RCW 51.24.050, 

.060. The Department receives its share to satisfy the amount of benefits it 

has paid, but, as determined by Tobin and Flanigan, it cannot use money 

obtained for pain and suffering or loss of consortium to reimburse the 

benefits the Department has paid because it does not pay these types of 

benefits to the worker. Tobin, 169 Wn.2d at 402; Flanigan, 123 Wn.2d at 

425. Sunheaven argues that there is a conflict with the Court’s decision in 

Flanigan and Tobin, but, to the contrary, the Court of Appeals directly 

applied these cases to hold in the context of the statute at issue here, RCW 

51.24.050, that “L&I may not retain noneconomic damages in assigned 

third party actions.” Carrera, 196 Wn. App. at 251. Thus, it ruled that in 

the second step the Department may not retain noneconomic damages 

                                                           
2 “If a third person, not in a worker’s same employ, is or may become liable to pay 
damages on account of a worker’s injury for which benefits and compensation are 
provided under this title, the injured worker or beneficiary may elect to seek damages 
from the third person.” RCW 51.24.030(1). 
3 “An election not to proceed against the third person operates as an assignment of the 
cause of action to the department or self-insurer, which may prosecute or compromise the 
action in its discretion in the name of the injured worker, beneficiary or legal 
representative.” RCW 51.24.050(1). 
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recovered from a negligent party.4 But it is a different question what can 

or cannot be sought from a negligent party in the first step. Neither Tobin 

nor Flanigan addressed what damages can be obtained from negligent 

defendants.  

It would actually be inconsistent with Tobin and Flanigan to allow 

a negligent third party to argue that he or she does not have to pay for all 

damages it created by its negligence because the Department cannot 

ultimately retain the funds. Both of those cases interpret the Industrial 

Insurance Act to benefit workers consistent with the Act’s mandate to 

minimize economic suffering. RCW 51.12.010. Nothing in Tobin or 

Flanigan directs this unjustified windfall to negligent third parties that 

Sunheaven argues for here. 

The plain language of RCW 51.24.050 confirms that the 

Legislature has authorized the Department to seek all damages in a third 

party action. Sunheaven argues that “[T]he recovery of noneconomic 

damages is not necessary to give meaning to every provision of the 

                                                           
4 Under the second step, noneconomic damages are not part of the “recovery” subject to 
“distribution” under  RCW 51.24.030, .050, or .060. Sunheaven points to some general 
language in the Court of Appeals decision, where the court suggested that the funds 
would be dispersed through the distribution scheme. Pet. at 8. The Court of Appeals was 
using the distribution scheme in a more general sense in that, under the scheme, 
noneconomic damages go straight to the worker while special damages are shared 
between the worker and the Department as the statute specifies. RCW 51.24.050. So this 
general language does not change the Court of Appeals’ holding that the Department is 
not entitled to a share of noneconomic damages.  
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statute.” Pet. at 9. But it ignores that the statute assigns the whole “cause 

of action” to the Department: 

An election not to proceed against the third person operates 
as an assignment of the cause of action to the department or 
self-insurer, which may prosecute or compromise the action 
in its discretion in the name of the injured worker, 
beneficiary or legal representative. 
 

RCW 51.24.050(1). “Cause of action” is defined as “A group of operative 

facts giving rise to one or more bases for suing; a factual situation that 

entitles one person to obtain a remedy in court from another person.” 

Black’s Law Dictionary 266 (10th ed. 2014). By using the term “cause of 

action,” the Legislature understood that it gave the Department authority 

to seek a remedy, namely, all damages. See Associated Grocers, Inc. v. 

State, 114 Wn.2d 182, 189, 787 P.2d 22 (1990) (stating Legislature is 

presumed to understand the meaning of ordinary and precise terms). By 

using that term, it did not limit the damages the Department may seek.   

The Court of Appeals’ reasoning that the Department may seek all 

damages under RCW 51.24.050 is sound. Far from defying this Court’s 

precedent in Tobin and Flanigan, the Court of Appeals applied those cases 

to benefit injured workers. Review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) is not warranted. 

B. The Court of Appeals Followed This Court’s Decisions in 
Vinther, Herrmann, and LG Electronics and Appropriately 
Applied RCW 4.16.160 
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The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with established 

parameters on the limits on the State’s exercise of sovereign power in 

bringing a cause of action. Contra Pet. at 19-20. Less than six months ago, 

in LG Electronics, this Court explained the contours of state immunity, 

which is consistent with the Court of Appeals decision here. 186 Wn.2d at 

13-16. In LG Electronics, this Court explained that the question of 

whether the State is exercising its sovereign power is answered by 

analyzing “the statutory provisions that authorized the actions to 

determine whether they were for the benefit of the public generally, even 

if private individuals might benefit specifically.” Id. at 14. The Court of 

Appeals did exactly that, conforming to well-established precedent in 

Vinther and Herrmann. 

 In 1934, this Court recognized that the Department may bring 

third party lawsuits after the statute of limitations runs. Vinther, 176 Wash. 

at 393-98. “‘[T]he act, as a whole, is the exercise of a governmental 

function in the fullest sense of the word, having its support in the police 

power of the state.’” LG Electronics, 186 Wn.2d at 14-15 (quoting 

Vinther, 176 Wash. at 394-95). Replenishing the workers’ compensation 
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trust fund benefits the State. Vinther, 176 Wash. at 393-98.5 Ignoring 

Vinther, Sunheaven raises the chimera that “the proverbial floodgates” 

will open. Pet. at 12. No floodgates have opened since Vinther held that 

the statute of limitation did not bar Department third party actions. The 

two year delay in this case is not the many year delay Sunheaven warns 

about. But, in any event, other defenses such as laches might apply to an 

unduly delayed Department claim if a party can demonstrate the defense’s 

elements. See Housing Auth. v. Ne. Lake Wash. Sewer & Water Dist., 56 

Wn. App. 589, 593, 784 P.2d 1284 (1990).  

Consistent with Supreme Court precedent, the Court of Appeals 

required evidence that the lawsuit served a state interest.  In Herrmann, 

this Court addressed the Insurance Commissioner’s authority under RCW 

48.99.020 (formerly RCW 48.31.120) to pursue claims on behalf of a 

delinquent insurance company. Under that statute, the Commissioner 

asserted claims related to mismanagement against company officers. The

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